IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ARTHUR BARNHILL, III,) Appellant,) vs.) STATE OF FLORIDA,) Appellee.)

CASE NO. SC00-547

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES R. WULCHAK CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar No. 249238 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114

(904)252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the symbol "R" will designate pages in the record on appeal, including transcript pages as renumbered sequentially by the clerk's office. Volumes will be referenced according to the sequential numbers assigned by the clerk's office for the entire record on appeal, and not by the concurrent numbering of the court reporters.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was charged by indictment with the offense of first degree premeditated murder on August 6, 1995, of Earl Gallipeau, by strangulation. (Vol. 1, R 17-19) The defendant was also charged with the additional offenses of burglary of a structure while armed with a deadly weapon: a belt, towel, ligature; robbery of the victim of keys, money, a wallet, and the contents of the wallet, while similarly armed; and grand theft of the victim's automobile. (Vol. 1, R 17-19)

Prior to trial, the defense moved to declare victim impact testimony unconstitutional, to limit victim impact testimony, and to permit its presentation to the judge only. (Vol. 1, R 65-68, 74-78, 120-121) The defendant also moved to have the victim impact testimony presented via videotape to limit its emotional impact on the jury. (Vol. I, R 135-136) All of these motions were denied by the trial court. (Vol. 1, 161-164) The defense additionally sought to have the jury submit its factual findings regarding its sentencing recommendation, which motion was denied by the court. (Vol. 1, R 146-148, 161-164)

The trial court denied a defense motion to suppress the defendant's statements to police and evidence seized from him during his arrest. (Vol. 1, R 157-160; Vol. 2, 217; Vol 6, R 738) In that statement, the defendant had admitted

his involvement as an accomplice in the crimes, claiming, however, a minor role to that of the main perpetrator, Jelani Jackson. (Vol. 14, R 1968-1976; Vol. 19, R 2978-2981, 2992-3027, 3039) Because of a dispute over whether a New York misdemeanor arrest warrant had existed or not prior to the arrest and because of the court's question whether the defendant had standing to contest the entry into the apartment where he was staying, the defendant was required to testify at the suppression hearing to establish that standing. (Vol. 6, R 712-713) At that hearing, the defendant testified that he was arrested by the New York police at around 6:00 a.m. on August 8, 1995, while seated on the couch of his girlfriend's apartment, holding their eight-month old baby daughter. (Vol. 6, R 720, 722, 727) Barnhill testified that he had arrived at his girlfriend's apartment at approximately 11:00 p.m., while her parents, the lessees of the apartment, were not at home. (Vol. 6, R 721, 719) When his girlfriend's mother phoned home at approximately midnight, Barnhill testified, he spoke to her and she invited him (the father of their grandbaby) to stay with them, despite the fact that it was only a two-bedroom apartment shared by two adults, four children, and the baby (they were planning on moving into a larger apartment soon). (Vol. 6, R 719, 724) In discussing its factual findings as to standing in support of its denial of the motion to suppress, the trial court went on a tirade about the defendant's testimony, calling it "a totally unbelievable explanation" and claiming "it about borders on perjury." (Vol. 6, R 733-734)

During jury selection, and after conversing at length with his grandmother, the defendant changed his mind and decided to enter a plea of no contest to all of the charges. (Vol. 6, R 748-777) The court accepted the plea (during which it was noted that the defendant in his statement had admitted to accompanying and assisting Jelani Jackson in the commission of these crimes) and adjudicated the defendant guilty of all the charges, including the armed robbery taking of the victim's car keys and the grand theft of the automobile. (Vol. 2, R 218, 221-222; Vol. 6, R 751-777, 791) Immediately after the plea, the defendant became extremely despondent and was ultimately found to be incompetent to stand trial for the penalty phase of the case, the original jury was discharged, and the penalty phase was continued. (Vol. 2, R 223, 224-231;Vol. 6, R 786-799)

In the interim, concerned over the court's comments about the defendant's supposed perjury made at the motion to suppress hearing and the trial judge's resultant inability to be fair and impartial, the defendant, within the ten-day time requirement, moved to disqualify the judge. (Vol. 2, R 232-235) At the original hearing on the recusal, the trial court vocally expressed doubts about the legitimacy of the motion, since the competence of the defendant, whose oath was required on the motion, had been questioned and the issue was still pending resolution. (Vol.

4

10, R 1279-1298) Defense counsel informed the court that, since beginning medication and treatment, the defendant's mental state had improved to the point that Barnhill understood the motion, and expressed his decision to proceed with the filing of the motion at this stage because of the strict time requirements surrounding motions to recuse. (Vol. 10, R 1283-128) The trial court found the time requirements to have been satisfied and continued the hearing on the motion to recuse, later (after finding the defendant's competence to have returned) denying the motion to disqualify without comment. (Vol. 10, R 1294-1298, 1301-1302; Vol. 11, R 1353)

The defense asked the court to grant a continuance for the penalty phase trial, indicating that their material expert medical witness, Dr. Feegel (whose testimony would rebut much of the opinion testimony of the state's medical examiner) would be unavailable to testify due to scheduled surgery. (Vol. 2, 253-254; Vol. 10, R 1317-1338) The court denied the motion, allowing the perpetuation of the expert's testimony by videotape, which videotape was later presented to the jury during penalty phase over renewed defense objection. (Vol. 2, R 255; Vol. 10, R 1338; Vol. 11, R 1353; Vol. 20, R 3198-3220)

During jury selection, the court repeatedly interrupted and admonished the defense, even where the state, on some occasions, had not interposed any

objection (at one point even threatening to preclude defense counsel from participating in the examination and to require co-counsel to assume control of the voir dire), limiting, over defense objections, the defendant's voir dire examination and refusing to allow counsel to approach the bench to discuss the limitation. (Vol. 12, R 1618, 1619-1620, 1622-1623, 1624-1630, 1631-1635, 1651-1652, 1661-1662, 1669-1672, 1674-1681) On several occasions, the court even took over the defense's voir dire examination and asked jurors simply "if they're leaning one way or the other," rather than counsel's more searching questions, or suggested to counsel that he simply ask the jurors "if anybody is prejudiced." (Vol. 12, R 1628-1630, 1632-1635, 1661-1662) Because of the interruptions and admonishments, some of which were in front of the jury, the defense requested to strike the entire panel which, it felt, had been tainted. (Vol. 12, R 1674-1680) The court denied the motion, contending that, "I think it was necessary to reign you in." (Vol. 12, R 1677, 1681) Two of the defendant's motions to recuse jurors for cause were denied. (Vol. 12, R 1687-1688) The defense exhausted all of its peremptory challenges and asked for more to exclude four additional prospective jurors, who were ultimately seated, which requests for additional peremptories were denied. (Vol. 12; R 1695, 1697-1699)

During the penalty phase hearing, the victim's son was permitted, over the

defendant's renewed objection, to give victim impact testimony. (Vol. 19, R 3059-3063)

During the penalty phase charge conference, the defense sought to waive the statutory mitigating circumstances of "under *extreme* duress or the *substantial* domination of another" and under "*substantial* impairment," contending that it should be permitted to argue mitigation based upon less than the modifiers contained in the statute, without the jury automatically assigning them less weight when compared to the statutory mitigators. (Vol. 19, R 3091-3093) However, when the state requested that the jury be instructed on those statutory mitigators, the court denied the defendant's attempted waiver of them. (Vol. 19, R 3091-3093) Similarly, the defense requested an amended instruction on the statutory mitigating circumstance of being an accomplice, asking that the modifiers "with *relatively minor* participation" be deleted and urging that it should be allowed to argue to the jury less than that standard, which amendment the court denied. (Vol. 19, R 3087)

At the commencement of argument to the penalty phase jury, the state was permitted by the court to project a photograph of Earl Gallipeau, taken while he was alive, onto a movie screen. (Vol. 20, R 3270) When the defendant objected to the enlargement being projected and displayed during the state's closing as an unlawful play on the sympathies of the jury which was becoming a feature of the penalty trial, the court overruled the objection, saying simply, "It's in evidence." (Vol. 20, R 3270)¹ Following the argument and penalty phase instructions to the jury, to which defense objections were renewed, the jury recommended that the defendant be sentenced to death by a vote of nine-to-three. (Vol. 20, R 3309; Vol. 21, R 3397)

At the *Spencer* hearing, the defendant addressed the court and apologized to the victim's family for his part in the crimes and to his grandmother for putting her through this ordeal. (Vol. 21, R 3411) The defense renewed its objections to the denial of its motion for a continuance and for requiring the defense to present Dr. Feegel's expert medical testimony via perpetuated videotape examination. The defense contended prejudice in that Dr. Feegel's opinions were presented to rebut those of the state's medical examiner, who, the defense claimed, surprised them at trial with opinion testimony that the victim had urinated on himself out of fear.²

¹ The defendant had previously objected to introduction of the photograph as being overly prejudicial and evoking the jurors' sympathies. (Vol. 19, R 3058, 3063)

²The state seized upon this salient unrebutted (at trial) testimony twice during its closing argument, to the defendant's prejudice, to argue strongly in favor of the aggravator of heinous, atrocious and cruel, that the victim emptied his bladder in his shorts out of fear. (Vol. 20, R 3277, 3278; Vol. 21, R 3424-3426)

Had the defense been granted the opportunity to have Dr. Feegel to testify live *after* this damaging opinion by Dr. Gore, it could have inquired into Dr. Feegel's opposite opinion (submitted as an affidavit at the hearing) that such discoloration of the shorts "does not mean that he had to have experienced 'fright' around or at the time of loss of consciousness." (Vol. 2, R 340; Vol. 21, R 3418-3427)

The trial court imposed a sentence of death on the defendant, finding four aggravating factors: (a) a previous conviction of a felony and under sentence of imprisonment or community control; (d) while engaged in the commission of a robbery or burglary; (f) for pecuniary gain; (h) heinous, atrocious, and cruel, which the court found on the basis of the time frames surrounding the killing as recounted by the defendant in his statement to the police,³ accompanied by extreme anxiety, fear, and foreknowledge of death, even though the court specifically found that the victim at no point ever regained consciousness and (i) cold, calculated, and premeditated, again on the basis of the erroneous time frames and also, *inter alia*, that the victim, "when confronted with his attacker surely must have been shocked and confounded by his attacker," to whom the victim had in the past "only shown

³ Which time frames were clearly erroneous as rebutted by the state's own witnesses and evidence showing that the defendant could not have been in the house as long as his statement indicated. (*See* Vol. 13, R 1824; Vol. 15, R 2451; Vol. 19, R 2956-2959, 3024)

kindness and generosity." (Vol. 2, R 347-353)

The court rejected all of the statutory mitigating factors except the defendant's age of twenty, coupled with his emotional immaturity, which the court found to have "little weight" since Barnhill had the "ability to work and socially interact in an appropriate fashion with other members in his community." (Vol. 2, R 353-358) The court rejected mitigator (b) under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance, noting that the instruction was requested by the state, and finding that the evidence did not rise to the level of "extreme." (Vol. 2, R 354) The court similarly rejected mitigating circumstance (f) substantial impairment, also requested by the state, finding it, too, did not rise to the level of "substantial." Finally, the court rejected mitigators (d) accomplice to the crime and participation relatively minor, and (e) extreme duress or substantial domination, totally rejecting the defendant's confession that he had accompanied Jelani Jackson, who was the actual perpetrator, and completely accepting Michael Jackson third inconsistent statement to the police,⁴ somehow divining that the jury had likewise "rejected the defendant's contention that Jelani Jackson murdered Mr. Gallipeau," and finding

⁴ During the extremely difficult cross-examination of Michael Jackson by the defense, the trial court at sidebar noted the difficulty and announced that the court judged Michael Jackson to be totally unbelievable as he exhibited all the characteristics of one who was not being truthful. (Vol. 18, R 2879)

that the confession was a "well thought out plan to implicate Jelani Jackson in place of the Defendant." (Vol. 2, R 355-357)

As to the nonstatutory mitigation, the court found as mitigation that Barnhill suffers from a learning disability; that he has frontal lobe impairment, but rejecting that it would impact greatly upon the defendant's behavior; that Barnhill had a difficult childhood, including abandonment by his mother at an early age; that the defendant pleaded guilty; that he manifested appropriate courtroom behavior and was cooperative with court officials; that Barnhill suffers from psychiatric disorders which contributed to his lack of judgment; that the defendant feels remorse for the homicide; and any other aspect of the defendant's character or background, lumping together the neglect of medical treatment by his mother which resulted in the loss of sight in one eye, that he was a poor student due to poor reading skills, and that he suffered shock in seeing his mother arrested and his father imprisoned for life. (Vol. 2, R 358-363) However, the court found that all these circumstances, although established by the defense, were entitled to only little weight. (Vol. 2, R 358-363) The court rejected the nonstatutory mitigating circumstances of his cooperation with law enforcement finding, despite testimony from the police that he was cooperative, that his confession was false and therefore not cooperative. (Vol. 2, R 359-360) The court also, as had been previously

indicated, rejected the defendant's version of minimal culpability as a minor accomplice of Jelani Jackson as a nonstatutory mitigator. (Vol. 2, R 364) In purporting to reject nonstatutory mitigation, the trial court found that the defendant was provided strong moral guidance by his paternal grandparents, was "capable of functioning as a normal human being in the day-to-day activities of our fast paced society," and that the defendant chose to violate his grandparents trust "by disobeying the rules of their house." (Vol. 2, R 363) This testimony of the grandparents, the court indicated, was "compelling and of great value" to the trial court. (Vol. 2, R 363)

The trial court ruled that "the scales of life and death tilt to the side of death," finding that the aggravating circumstances far outweigh the mitigating circumstances, and further ruling that each aggravator, standing alone, would be sufficient to outweigh the minimal mitigation. (Vol. 2, R 364-365)

The court sentenced the defendant to two life terms of imprisonment for the armed burglary and armed robbery convictions, and five years on the grand theft auto conviction, all sentences to run concurrent with each other and with the death sentence. (Vol. 2, R 365)

A notice of appeal was timely filed. (Vol. 2, R 371-372, 376-377)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The wallet of the victim, Earl Gallipeau, age 84, was discovered by a neighbor on the street a few doors down from his house at approximately 6:00 p.m. on the evening of August 6, 1995. (Vol. 13, R 1824-1826, 1912) His automobile, a Ford Taurus, was seen by another neighbor leaving his residence with what appeared to be two occupants at approximately 2:30 p.m. that day. (Vol. 19, R 2956-2959) Alerted by these neighbors, a friend retrieved the wallet and entered the victim's residence, leaving it in the entranceway at approximately 7:30 p.m. (Vol. 13, R 1826-1827, 1912-1918) When she had not heard from Mr. Gallipeau by 10:00 that night, the friend became alarmed and phoned police, who discovered the deceased victim on the floor of the back bedroom of the house, with a towel and elastic belt wrapped around his neck. (Vol. 13, R 1789-1794, 1918)

When Jelani Jackson and another friend of the defendant, Arthur Barnhill, III, were arrested in New York City on August 8, 1995, driving the victim's automobile, they identified the defendant as the possessor of the vehicle. (Vol. 13, R 1932-1933; Vol. 14, R 1957; Vol. 16, R 2524-2525) The defendant was arrested on an old New York misdemeanor warrant in his girlfriend's apartment, while seated on the couch playing with their eight-month old daughter, and was held and questioned

in the murder/robbery of the victim. (Vol. 13, R 1925-1928) Two police officers involved in the case testified that Barnhill was always cooperative with them. (Vol. 13, R 1928; Vol. 14, R 1957)

Barnhill, in his taped statement to the police, immediately admitted to going to the victim's house with an accomplice for the purpose of taking a car, and to participating in the crimes against Mr. Gallipeau (who was a customer of Barnhill's grandfather's lawn service, for whom the defendant sometime worked) but indicated that he was simply an accomplice to Jelani Jackson, whose idea it was to steal the car and who actually killed the victim. (Vol. 14, R 1968-1976; Vol. 19, R 2978-2981, 2992-3027, 3039) Jelani, who was observed with recent scratches on his arm at the time of his arrest, and who was also detained and questioned for the murder and robbery, spoke on the telephone from the New York jail to his brother Michael Jackson, who was similarly being questioned by the police in Florida. (Vol. 14, R 2054-2058; Vol. 15, R 2262-2263, 2269-2270, 2299; Vol. 16, R 2468; Vol. 19, R 3051-3052) Michael gave several inconsistent stories to the police, first denying any involvement whatsoever, then stating that he had accompanied the defendant part way to the victim's house, but had left him before arriving there, and finally, after speaking to Jelani and to his parents, claiming that he, and not Jelani, had accompanied Barnhill to the victim's house, but left upon the defendant

indicating that they would have to kill the victim. (Vol. 14, R 2057-2058;; Vol. 18, R 2763-2766, 2780-2781, 2842-2843, 2861-2874; Vol. 20, R 3181-3182, 3189) Michael, in his third inconsistent statement to police, indicated that he and Barnhill had gotten a ride after church part way to the victim's house, where the defendant intended to take a car in order to drive to New York to see his family. (Vol. 18, R 2763-2766)⁵ Michael's version has he and Barnhill walking the 2.64 miles from where they were dropped off to the victim's house in between ten to thirty minutes, then entering the open garage door, then entering the house through the unlocked kitchen entrance, where they saw the victim's wallet and car keys on the counter, and secretly observed Mr. Gallipeau around the corner in his living room watching television. (Vol. 18, R 2767-2771, 2894-2895) Michael recalled that Barnhill immediately indicated that they would have to kill the victim, in which act Michael said he did not want to take part and left. (Vol. 18, R 2771) Although a neighbor testified that she observed two occupants of the victim's car driving off in it, another state witness testified that she observed Michael Jackson, whom she knew vaguely from school, walking alone on a street in a direction away from the town in which the victim lived; however, she was certain that the time frame was between

⁵ A church member confirmed giving the two boys a ride after they had assisted him at the church fellowship, dropping them off at 2:15 p.m. (Vol. 16, R 2420-2422)

12:30 - 1:00 p.m., and not later. (Vol. 16, R 2434, 2441; Vol. 19, R 2956-2959)

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