IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ARTHUR BARNHILL, III,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC00-547 Lower Tribunal No. 95-2932-

CFA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 14087
Westwood Center
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
Telephone: (813) 801-0600
Facsimile: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Foster v. State, 679 So. 2d 747, 752 (Fla. 1996). It is within the trial court's discretion to determine whether a challenge for cause is proper and the court's decision denying a cause challenge will not be overturned absent manifest error. Id.

Although the two prospective jurors indicated that they favored the death penalty, both jurors clearly indicated that they would follow the applicable law. This Court has

consistently found that jurors who have expressed strong beliefs about the death penalty may nevertheless serve on the jury if they indicate an ability to abide by the trial court's instructions. See Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 637, 644 (Fla. 1995); Bryant v. State, 656 So. 2d 426, 428 (Fla. 1995); Penn v. State, 574 So. 2d 1079, 1080-81 (Fla. 1991). In Penn, this Court found that the trial judge properly refused to excuse two prospective jurors for cause because they ultimately demonstrated their competency by stating that they would base their decisions on the evidence and instructions. Id.

Likewise, in the instant case, both Cotto and Robinson indicated that they would follow the law and weigh the aggravating and mitigating factors to determine whether death was the appropriate sentence. Because the trial judge was in the best position to observe the attitude and demeanor of the two prospective jurors, this Court should defer to the trial judge's ruling denying Appellant's challenges for cause. See Johnson, 660 So. 2d at 644 (stating that trial judge is in best position to gauge jurors' responses and as long as there is competent record support for the trial court's ruling, this Court will not reverse on a cold record).

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR BY LIMITING OR INTERRUPTING DEFENSE COUNSEL'S VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION OR BY ALLEGEDLY CHASTISING DEFENSE COUNSEL.

Appellant argues that the trial court committed reversible error by interrupting and restricting his voir dire examination and by chastising defense counsel in front of the jury. Although the trial judge took an active role in both the State's and defense counsel's voir dire, the judge's actions and comments were not prejudicial and did not taint the jury in any manner.

It is well established that the scope of voir dire questioning rests within the sound discretion of the trial judge and will not be interfered with unless the judge's discretion is clearly abused. Vining v. State, 637 So. 2d 921, 926 (Fla. 1994). Furthermore, whether a trial judge should have allowed interrogation on specific subjects is also reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. Farina v. State, 679 So. 2d 1151, 1154 (Fla. 1996). Appellant has failed to demonstrate a clear abuse of the court's discretion in handling the voir dire examination.

Appellant argues that the trial judge improperly interrupted defense counsel's voir dire examination without an objection

from the State. First, it should be noted that the trial judge frequently interrupted both the State and defense counsel during voir dire, without objection, in order to clarify an issue. (V12, T.1575-76; 1584-86; 1596-97; 1618-24; 1631; Admittedly, the court interrupted defense counsel's voir dire more frequently, but this was simply a result of defense counsel's questioning which the court properly characterized as bifurcated, rambling, disjointed, and nonsensical. 11 T.1676). The court had to interrupt defense counsel and explain to counsel that his questions were confusing the jury. Once counsel began asking clear and concise questions which were not misleading, counsel had а lengthy examination unsolicited interruptions from the court. (V12, T.1635-69).

Appellant also claims that the court erred by precluding defense counsel from individually questioning potential jurors regarding their attitude on mitigating circumstances (V12, T.1669) and from questioning certain jurors who expressed their favor of the death penalty for those convicted of murder. (V12, T.1624-25). See Initial Brief of Appellant at 53-54. Contrary to Appellant's assertions, the trial judge did not preclude

 $^{^{11}}$ For example, defense counsel's initial "question" to the venire took up approximately five full transcript pages, covered a number of topics, and resulted in admitted confusion to the venire. (V12, T.1602-07).

defense counsel from questioning the venire regarding their feelings toward mitigation evidence of a troubled childhood. The State objected to defense counsel's question, and the trial judge ruled that counsel could ask the question provided he placed the question in context. (V12, T.1669-74). Similarly, the trial court did not prevent Appellant from questioning the venire regarding their inclination to favor the death penalty. As discussed in Issue II, supra, the court expressed displeasure with defense counsel's attempt to articulate a straight-forward question and, as a result, the court asked the venire a few questions and then turned the examination over to defense counsel for further inquiry. (V12, T.1624-30). Thereafter, defense counsel continued along the lines of his previous questions.

Appellant's argument that the court improperly limited or restricted his voir dire by "reigning him in" and prejudiced him by chastising defense counsel in front of the jury is without merit. As the trial judge properly noted, counsel's voir dire examination was misleading to the venire and "in order to preserve some sanctity of the process, I think it was necessary to reign you in." (V12, T.1677-79). Clearly, the court did not abuse its discretion in preventing defense counsel from confusing the jury with improper questions. Additionally, the

court was oftentimes polite to defense counsel in attempting to get him to ask clear and concise questions, 12 and the court never chastised defense counsel in front of the jury. See Williams v. State, 689 So. 2d 393 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1997) (finding that trial court properly exercised its authority over voir dire by interjecting itself, without objection, into defense counsel's voir dire without harshness).

In <u>Brown v. State</u>, 678 So. 2d 910, 913 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), the court reversed for a new trial when the trial judge castigated defense counsel in front of the jury and made counsel apologize to the jury. In addressing the defendant's claim that the trial judge impaired the fairness of the trial, the appellate court noted:

It is clear that the trial judge interjected himself into the defense counsel's voir dire examination of jurors and final argument without any objection from the prosecutor. While it is certainly true that a trial judge has the power to take such action even in the absence of an objection from the opposing lawyer, it should be exceedingly rare to do so. Repeated interjections without objection can recast the judicial role from impartial adjudicator to advocate for party foreswearing apparent the The occasion authorizing such judicial objection. action should thus be both singular and intolerably offensive.

¹²On one occasion, the court stated "I'm not following it, I don't mean to be rude. You're asking bifurcated questions... I'm all for educating jurors, it's not helping people, it's confusing them at this stage. Ask succinct questions, if at all possible." (V12, T.1622-23).

<u>Id.</u> at 913.

In the instant case, unlike the facts in <u>Brown</u>, the trial judge's interjections into the voir dire process and the court's comments to defense counsel in front of the jury¹³ did not recast the judge's role in the eyes of the venire. Obviously, the court did not preclude Appellant from questioning the jury on any area of the law, but merely imposed proper limits on the manner in which defense counsel asked the questions. Accordingly, this Court should find that the trial judge acted within its discretion in controlling the voir dire process.

¹³The allegedly improper comments the judge made in front of the jury were: "We're going to stop it right now. Counsel approach the bench," and on one occasion, the court declined defense counsel's request to approach the bench. (V12, T.1623-24). Clearly, these comments cannot be characterized as "castigating" or raising a stigma around defense counsel.

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A CONTINUANCE TO SECURE THE LIVE TESTIMONY OF A DEFENSE EXPERT WITNESS.

Prior to the commencement of the penalty phase, Appellant moved for a continuance based on the unavailability of an expert witness. (V2, R.253-54). Appellant planned on calling Dr. Feegel at the penalty phase proceeding, but the doctor had surgery scheduled and would not be able to attend. hearing on the motion, defense counsel informed the court that Dr. Feegel would offer testimony to contradict the medical examiner's opinion regarding the time it took the victim to lose consciousness when strangled. (V10, T.1318-26). The State objected to the motion and noted that the case had been continued by defense counsel many times and the State had scheduling problems with a number of out-of-state witnesses. Furthermore, the State argued that Appellant could retain plenty of medical examiners who would testify to the same opinion as Dr. Feegel regarding the time it takes a victim to lose consciousness and Appellant would be able to cross-examine the medical examiner, Dr. Gore, regarding his opinion. 14 (V10,

¹⁴Appellant asserted that Dr. Gore's opinion on the time it took someone to lose consciousness when strangled was a minority, "pro-State" view in contradiction to established

T.1326-27).

The court denied the motion to continue and allowed Appellant to perpetuate Dr. Feegel's testimony via videotape. (V10, T.1333-37). The State submits that the trial court acted within its sound discretion in denying the motion for continuance and in allowing Appellant to perpetuate and present Dr. Feegel's testimony via videotape.

A trial court's ruling on a motion for continuance is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. <u>Kearse v. State</u>, 770 So. 2d 1119 (Fla. 2000). In <u>Kearse</u>, the Florida Supreme Court stated that the trial court's ruling on a motion for continuance will only be reversed when an abuse of discretion is shown and the court further noted:

An abuse of discretion is generally not found unless the court's ruling on the continuance results in undue prejudice to defendant. See Fennie v. State, 648 So. 2d 95, 97 (Fla.1994). This general rule is true even in death penalty cases. 'While death penalty cases command [this Court's] closest scrutiny, it is still the obligation of an appellate court to review with caution the exercise of experienced discretion by a trial judge in matters such as a motion for a continuance.'

Kearse, 770 So. 2d at 1127 (quoting Cooper v. State, 336 So. 2d
1133, 1138 (Fla. 1976)).

In the instant case, Appellant has failed to establish an

authority. (V10, T.1331).

abuse of the trial court's discretion or undue prejudice resulting from the court's ruling. Dr. Gore testified that the victim in this case would have likely lost consciousness "within a minute, two minutes, max." (V13, T.1860). Dr. Gore also opined that the victim may have lost control of his bladder during the attack as a result of fear. (V13, T.1862). cross-examination, Dr. Gore admitted that an elderly victim with arterial sclerotic condition would likely lose consciousness quicker than a younger person without the condition. T.1885). Dr. Gore testified that he was familiar with a textbook, Forensic Pathology, written by the leading authority in the field of pathology, Vincent DeMayo. Dr. Gore disagreed with DeMayo's personal opinion that a victim loses consciousness within thirty seconds if the blood vessels in the neck are completely closed off. (V13, T.1894).

After the State rested, defense counsel presented the videotaped testimony of Dr. Feegel. (V20, T.3198-3228). Dr. Feegel testified that he generally agreed with Dr. Gore's deposition testimony regarding the amount of time the victim would have remained conscious, but indicated that if the victim's blood supply was completely cut off, he would have lost consciousness in less than a minute, probably under thirty seconds. (V20, T.3205-07).

Appellant argues on appeal that he was prejudiced by the trial court's denial of his motion to continue because Dr. Feegel's videotaped testimony did not address Dr. "surprise" testimony that the victim may have urinated in his shorts out of fear. Even if Dr. Feegel had testified that the discoloration in the victim's shorts did not mean he urinated on himself out of fear while conscious, the prosecutor would have been allowed to make the same argument he made during closing. Contrary to Appellant's assertion in his brief that this testimony was "featured prominently" in the State's closing argument, the prosecutor merely stated that it was Dr. Gore's opinion that the victim urinated out of fear. (V20, T.3277). Admittedly, Appellant could not counter this argument to the jury by presenting Dr. Feegel's rebuttal testimony, but Appellant was able to submit an affidavit from Dr. Feegel to the court at the Spencer hearing detailing the doctor's position on the victim's discoloration of his shorts. (V21, T.3418-26). The State did not object to the admission of the affidavit and argued that Dr. Gore's opinion regarding the discoloration of the victim's underwear was cumulative evidence of the victim's suffering and fear. the prosecutor noted, Appellant As described in his statement to law enforcement officers the victim's fear during the attack, including his struggling,

pushing away, and attempting to yell. (V21, T.3426).

finding the aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious or cruel, the trial judge did not rely on the fact that the victim had discolored clothing. The court found that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel based on the evidence of strangulation and the fact that the murder was not one continuous action. (V3, R.351-53). Appellant attacked an eighty-four year old man and strangled him manually. When this did not result in his death, Appellant obtained a towel and used it as a ligature. When the towel did not suffice, Appellant removed the victim's belt from his pants and wrapped it around the victim's neck four times and strangled him to death. Appellant's statement to law enforcement officers indicated that the victim struggled during the attack and Appellant claimed the attack took six to seven minutes. Based on this evidence, the trial court found that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. The fact that Dr. Gore may have believed the victim urinated out of fear prior to losing consciousness was not a factor in the trial judge's decision to find HAC. Thus, any error in denying the motion for continuance was harmless and did not create any undue prejudice. <u>See State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

ISSUE V

APPELLANT'S DOUBLE JEOPARDY RIGHTS WERE NOT VIOLATED BY HIS CONVICTIONS FOR THE STATUTORILY SEPARATE AND DISTINCT OFFENSES OF ROBBERY WITH A DEADLY WEAPON AND GRAND THEFT OF A MOTOR VEHICLE.

Appellant argues that double jeopardy bars his convictions for the offenses of robbery with a deadly weapon and grand theft of a motor vehicle. Assuming arguendo that Appellant may raise this issue based on his no contest plea, 15 the State submits that separate convictions and sentences for these two offenses are permissible under Florida Statutes, section 775.021(4)(a) because each of the offenses requires proof of an element that the other does not. Section 775.021(4)(a), which codified the applicable test set forth in Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299 (1932), provides as follows:

Whoever, in the course of one criminal transaction or episode, commits an act or acts which constitute one or more separate criminal offenses, upon conviction and adjudication of guilt, shall be sentenced separately for each criminal offense; and the sentencing judge may order the sentences to be served concurrently or consecutively. For purposes of this

¹⁵See <u>Henderson v. State</u>, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D512 (Fla. 1st DCA Feb. 14, 2001) (state acknowledges that defendant may raise for the first time on appeal a double jeopardy claim regarding his convictions for robbery and grand theft); <u>Hayes v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 1042, 1044 n.1 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999) (finding that double jeopardy violation is fundamental error which can be raised on appeal even without objection in the trial court), <u>review granted</u>, 761 So. 2d 329 (Fla. 2000).

subsection, offenses are separate if each offense requires proof of an element that the other does not, without regard to the accusatory pleading or the proof adduced at trial.

§ 775.021(4)(a), Fla. Stat. (2000) (emphasis added).

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